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Skidmore/Old Town Historic District was once the center of commerce and en­ 
tertainment in Portland and contains the city's largest remaining collection of 
mid to late 19th century business buildings. The district is an area of approxi­ 
mately 20 blocks centered on Burnside Street and bordered by the Willamette River 
on the east. The district is known throughout the United States for its Italianate 
architecture. The wooden cornices, masonry bearing walls, and the use of archi­ 
tectural cast iron in the street level facades once typified the streets of Port­ 
land and are well represented in the present Skidmore/Old Town Historic District. 
The focal point and source of the district name is 1£e Skidmore Fountain built in 
1888 and donated to the city by Stephen G. Skidmore.

The Skidmore Fountain was conceived and executed by 01 in J. Wajrne.r, a sculptor 
of national reputation. It consists of an ornate bronze basin eight feet in di- " 
ameter held aloft by an ionic shaft and two bronze caryatids of classical form 
and drapery. An octagonal granite pool 20 feet in diameter collects the splash­ 
ing water from above and lion heads below spout small streams of water into the 
four horse and dog troughs. Metal drinking cups hung below the pool until the 
first years of the twentieth century when they were removed in the interest of 
public safety.

The New Market Theater, located about 100 feet southwest of the fountain, 
was built by pioneer seaman and merchant Alexander Ankeny in 1872. W. W. Piper, 
Oregon's first professional architect, designed the three-story brick building 
in the North Italian mode of the Renaissance Revival. The handsome structure 
housed an arcaded street level public market, a small restaurant and Portland's 
grandest theater between 1872 and 1884. The building retains its original east 
and west facades except for six cornice urns which have been removed and an 1884 
remodeling of the theater's east entrances. The interior of the first level is 
restorable but the theater is now used for automobile parking and has been 
severely altered.

The New Market Alley Building was constructed soon after 1872 and housed 
the clty_council in. 1879. This small two-story masonry building covered the 
alley Entrance on the south side of the New Market Theater. The two arches on 
the street level allowed access to the alley, one for incoming and one for out­ 
going wagons. The building was constructed in the Italianate style although it 
shares the same cornice with the neighboring High Victorian Italianate Poppleton 
Building to the south.

The Poppleton Building, probably constructed in 1873, is composed of cast 
iron pilasters and thresholds, plastered brick, and wooden windows and cornice 
detail. This corner building now houses a modern specialty shop and has been 
altered structurally to allow access between the three original divisions.

The New Market Annex abuts both the Poppleton Building and the New Market 
Theater, and is considered the city's best example of (iLch,ar_dsorii.an_Romanesque 
Architecture. The Annex was built in 1889 and, as originally, supports mixed
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Portland's Skidmore/0Id Town Historic District incorporates several valuable 
cultural assets for the city, the state, and the nation. Architecturally, the 
djjtrict includes the Italianate, the High Victorian Italianate, the Renaissance 
Revival, the RicKardsonian Romanesque, and the Sullivanesque styles. The use of 
cast iron to express architectural style-is extensive throughout the district. 
Several structures from this district stand out as among the finest on the west 
coast. The New Market Theater, designed by W. W. Piper, is a fine example of the 
North Italian Mode of the Renaissance Revival style, the Blagen Block is used by 
M4£cus Whiffen in his American Architecture Since 1780 as a prime example of High 
Victorian Italianate, and the Skidmore Fountain designed and executed by 01 in J. 
Warner, was considered one of the more excellent fountains in the country when it 
was constructed in 1888.

By the early 1850s, Portland became the primary community in Oregon. Two 
factors contributed to its primacy. International shippers discovered that the 
Willamette River was unnavigable for oceangoing vessels beyond Portland during 
most of the year, leading to the decline of the upstream rival communities of 
Milwaukie and Oregon City. In 1852, the completion of the Portland and Tualatin 
Valley Plank Road (or the "Great Plank Road <J as it was locally called), by which 
agricultural products could be more easily transported from the rich Tualatin 
Valley, firmly established Portland as the primary shipping point in Oregon. 
These two factors hastened the development of industry in Portland, which by 
1850 included a tannery, a steam powered sawmill, and various commercial enter­ 
prises.

Portland had grown to a population of 
permanent settlement were more apparent by 
constructed near the waterfront, suggesting 
manent commercial city. Of these buildings 
and the De 1 schne i der Bu.jJjdln.cu remain within 
trict. By the late 1860s, Portland was beg 
for its development. Samuel Bowles, editor 
torial mouthpiece for Jay Cooke's Northern

821 residents J3.vJJ36p, and evidences of 
that time. Several brick buildings were
that Portland was becoming a more per- 

, the Hallock, and Me Mi 11 an Building
the Skidmore/Old Town Historic Dis- 
inning to gain national recognition
of the Spr i ngfie1d Republi can and edi- 
Pacific Railroad, remarked in 1869:

"Oregonians, have builded what they have got more slowly and 
more wisely than the Californians; they have . . . less to unlearn; 
and they seem sure, not of organizing the first state on the Pa­ 
cific Coast, indeed, but of a steadily prosperous healthy and 
moral one—they are in the way to be the New England of the Pa­ 
cific Coast."
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The Portland Skidmore/Old Town Historic District is primarily significant for its 
collection of late 19th Century architecture. In addition, the district contains a 
number of post-1900 buildings which also contribute to the architectural traditions of 
the immediate area. This statement will place the 20th Century buildings within district 
boundaries in the context of the overall development of the city and, thus, more clearly 
establish their contributing status.

Boosterism in the prosperous city of Portland at the turn of the century led to the 
creation of the Lewis and Clark Centennial Exposition of 1905. The exposition received 
national attention and attracted large amounts of investment capital to the city after 
it closed. 'Increased developmental interests resulting from the healthy economic climate 
encouraged construction of many commercial and residential buildings in Portland.

Most of the new commercial development occurred west of the Yamhill and Skidmore/Old Town 
Historic Districts. To the north and east of the new commercial core, numerous three to 
five story buildings were constructed, most often as residential hotels with commercial 
storefronts;at the ground level. Most of these buildings were constructed in brick and 
most displayed a modicum of historic detailing on their elevations.

A number of these 20th Century buildings were constructed within the boundaries of the 
Skidmore/Old Town Historic District. Most are still standing, and most were given- 
conservative compatible rankings in the original rankings in the original National 
Register nomination document. Only one 20th Century building, the George Lawrence 
Building (1902), was given a secondary ranking in the documentation, primarily due to 
its association with the leading Portland architectural firm of Whidden & Lewis. The 
George Lawrence leather goods manufacturing firm is among the city's significant historic 
businesses, however. Today, all these buildings are considered of secondary significance.

A small number of buildings ante-dating the First World War are within the district 
boundaries, and are considered compatible, having been constructed in materials, scale, 
and design similar to their earlier 20th Century neighbors. The 1930 end date for the 
period of 20th Century significance corresponds to the general cessation of commercial 
development in the city in advance of the Depresssion.



VICTOR ATIYEH 
GOVERNOR

Department of Transportation

STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE
Parks and Recreation Division
525 TRADE STREET S.E., SALEM, OREGON 97310

MayM, 1985

Carol D. Shull
Keeper of the National Register
National Park Service
PO Box 37127
Washington, D.C. 20013-7127

Dear Ms. Shull :

Enclosed please find supplemental information on the Portland 
Skidmore/Old Town Historic District nomination.

The Continuation Sheet, Item 8, page 3, is offered to more 
firmly establish the contributing status of buildings within 
the district which ante-date 1900. In addition, we request 

! that "1900-" be checked under "Period" on the first page of 
Item 8.

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Please phone me 
at (503) 373-7694, if you have additional questions.

Sincerely,

^7aK-**»^*^2^t ——

James M. Hamrick 
Preservation Specialist

JMH:sqh 
Enclosure

cc: Paul W. Alley, WRO

Form 734-3122
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